FILED SPD J. WHITE JAN 5 1993

STATE OF FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 80,712

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By._____Chief Deputy Clerk

FORT PIERCE UTILITIES AUTHORITY,

Appellant,

vs.

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

INITIAL BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

FREDERICK M. BRYANT FL BAR ID #0126375

WILLIAM J. PEEBLES FL BAR ID #0282741

Moore, Williams, Bryant, Peebles & Gautier, P.A. Post Office Box 1169 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 904/222-5510

Attorneys for Appellant Fort Pierce Utilities Authority

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from an order of the Florida Public Service Commission denying approval of a territorial agreement reached by two competing utilities, Florida Power and Light Company ("FPL") and Fort Pierce Utility Authority ("FPUA"). In re: Joint Motion for approval of territorial agreement and dismissal of territorial dispute, 92 F.P.S.C. 9:679 (1992). FPL is a private corporation, which is authorized by state law to furnish electricity and power throughout the State of Florida. (R-27). FPUA is a municipal corporation, which exists and is organized pursuant to City of Fort Pierce Ordinance No. F-399. Ft. Pierce, Fla. Ordinance No-F-399. FPUA is part of the government of the City of Fort Pierce, responsible for the exclusive control and management of the City's utilities. Id. FPUA serves the City of Ft. Pierce and the surrounding area, encompassing approximately 47 square miles and serving approximately 24,000 customers. [Transcript of hearing held June 18, 1992, at 158, (hereinafter "TR")].

Presently and for the last several years, both utilities have been furnishing electricity to customers residing in areas inside and outside the city limits of Fort Pierce. (R-27). In competing to provide electric service in the same area without a territory agreement, FPL and FPUA have duplicated distribution facilities and have created numerous pockets of areas where customers served by

FPL are totally surrounded by FPUA facilities. (TR-160). This competition has led to the inefficient use of each utility's facilities, to confusion in ownership of existing facilities, and to the existence of safety hazards due to the presence of adjacent electric facilities. (TR-54-56, 162-163).

Beginning in the late 1970's, FPL and FPUA entered into negotiations with the intent to formalize a mutually acceptable territorial agreement. (TR-160-161). After many failed attempts to reach an accord, FPL filed a Petition to Resolve Territory Dispute against the City of Ft. Pierce with the Public Service Commission in October of 1989. The petition indicated that the existing conflict between the parties in the provision of electr was in the areas outside the corporate limits of Fort those limits existed on July 1, 1974. (R-3).

It was not until approximately two years after the filing FPL's petition that FPL and FPUA reached an agreement settling their dispute. (TR-160-161). In order to avoid and eliminate overlapping service areas and duplication of service facilities, the parties agreed to establish a territorial boundary by which each utility was reserved a specific service territory. (R-29). In addition, the parties agreed to transfer certain customer accounts and distribution facilities. (R-30). To comply with the newly formed territory boundary, FPL proposed to transfer approximately 3,200 accounts from ten areas of residential and commercial customers. (TR-58, 317). In turn, FPUA proposed to transfer

approximately 900 accounts from four areas of residential and commercial customers. (TR-58, 317). The largest area being transferred to FPUA under the proposed agreement is the predominantly residential area of North Hutchinson Island. (TR-317).

On January 29, 1992, FPL and FPUA filed with the Public Service Commission a Joint Petition for Approval of a Territorial Agreement and Dismissal of the Territorial Dispute. The Commission has exclusive jurisdiction over FPL and FPUA for the purpose of approving territorial agreements and of resolving territorial disputes. § 366.04(2), Fla. Stat. (1991) The Commission has further statutory jurisdiction over FPL and FPUA for the planning, development, and maintenance of a coordinated electric power grid and for the avoidance of uneconomic duplication of generation, transmission, and distribution facilities. § 366.04(3), Fla. Stat. (1991). To further these objectives, the Commission has a duty to approve proposed territory agreements unless it determines that the proposed agreement works a detriment to the public interest. Utilities Commission of New Smyrna Beach v. Florida Public Service Commission, 469 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1985).

On March 27, 1992, the Public Service Commission issued a Notice of Proposed Agency Action approving the territorial agreement. 92 F.P.S.C. 3:440 (1992); (R-199). The preliminary order stated that the proposed agreement satisfied the intent of Section 366.04(5), Florida Statutes (1991), of avoiding uneconomic

duplication of generation, transmission, and distribution facilities in the state and that the agreement was in the best interest of the general body of ratepayers. <u>Id</u>. at 441.

As a result of protests filed by customers, primarily from North Hutchinson Island, a customer hearing was held on June 1, 1992. The North Hutchinson Island residents objected to the proposed transfer to FPUA. [Transcript of customer service hearing held June 1, 1992, at 1-113 (hereinafter "Customer TR")]. The majority of customers complained that no duplication of facilities existed on the island, that the transfer would result in the loss of certain conservation programs and that the rates of FPUA were higher than those of FPL. (Customer TR-18, 20-26, 30-31, 50-52, 59, 62, 65-66, 73-74, 86-87).

A final hearing was subsequently held before the Commission on June 18, 1992. Three months later, Commissioners Clark and Easley issued an order denying approval of the settlement agreement reached by FPL and FPUA. <u>In re:</u> Joint Motion for approval of <u>territorial agreement and dismissal of territorial dispute</u>, 92 F.P.S.C. 9:679 (1992); (R-270). Limiting its analysis to the agreement's alleged detriment to the customers residing in North Hutchinson Island, the commissioners concluded that the territory agreement between FPL and FPUA did not serve the public interest, even though the agreement eliminated needless and wasteful

expenditures and provided increased reliability to all affected customers. FPUA filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court on October 27, 1992. (R-277).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Public Service Commission has an affirmative duty to balance the interests of all customers affected by a proposed transfer when approving a territorial agreement between utilities. The Commission must consider both the benefits and harms of a proposed agreement. In addition, it must consider whether the agreement furthers the statutory objective of avoiding uneconomic duplication of facilities. Only after these interests are properly weighed can the Commission make a determination as to whether the agreement as a whole works a detriment to the public interest.

In rejecting the agreement proposed by FPL and FPUA, the Commission failed to balance the benefits and harms of the proposed agreement. The Commission based its decision almost exclusively on the alleged detriment to the residents of North Hutchinson Island. The Commission failed to consider the resulting benefits of the agreement of increased reliability, elimination of facility duplication, and elimination of overlapping service areas. In fact, the Commission's final order is void of any discussion of whether the agreement serves the public interest in the disputed areas. The Commission limits its analysis to FPUA's capacity to meet future growth on North Hutchinson Island and to the availability of conservation programs to North Hutchinson Island residents. Even if the transfer would result in a detriment to these residents, this fact alone cannot support a finding of an

overall detriment to the public as a whole.

Moreover, even if the Commission had properly applied the standards enunciated in <u>Utilities Commission of New Smyrna Beach v.</u> <u>Florida Public Service Commission</u>, 469 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1985), there is no competent substantial evidence in the record to support a finding of a detriment to affected customers of both utilities.

The policy of this State favoring mutual settlement of disputes militates against permitting the Commission to abandon the statutory objectives of reducing overlapping and duplicative service areas in approving territorial agreements. The proposed agreement between FPL and FPUA eliminates competition without protracted litigation. It further serves the public interest in providing for an organized, concentrated service area and in avoiding existing and future duplication of facilities. When an agreement settling a territorial dispute serves the public interest, the Commission's refusal to approve the agreement is not justified by protecting the interests of a particular locality.

I. THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION FAILED TO PROPERLY APPLY THE NO DETRIMENT TEST PREVIOUSLY ENUNCIATED BY THIS COURT.

The long standing policy of this State is to encourage the settlement of disputes by mutual agreement. Settlements are highly favored in the law since they are a means of amicably resolving disputes and of preventing protracted litigation. <u>Utilities Comm'n</u> <u>City of New Smyrna Beach v. Florida Public Serv. Comm'n</u>, 469 So.2d 731, 732 (Fla. 1985); <u>De Witt v. Miami Transit Co.</u>, 95 So.2d 898, 890 (Fla. 1957); <u>Lotspeich Co. v. Neogard Corp.</u>, 416 So.2d 1163, 1164-65 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). Nowhere in the law is this policy more germane than in the area of territorial agreements. Explosive population growth in the State of Florida has resulted in increasing conflict and competition between utilities as they expand their service areas in order to serve new customers in surrounding areas. Richard C. Bellak & Martha C. Brown, <u>Drawing the Lines: Statewide Territorial Boundaries for Public Utilities in Florida</u>, 19 Fla. St. U. L. Rev. 407, 407 (1991).

Early on, this Court in <u>Storey v. Mayo</u>, 217 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1968), recognized the harm caused by territorial conflicts. In <u>Storey</u>, this Court stated:

[P]rior to the subject agreement, the Company and the City actively competed for customers in the suburban areas. This, of course, required duplicating, paralleling and overlapping distribution systems in the affected areas. This duplication of lines, poles, transformers and other equipment not only marred the

appearance of the community but it also increased the hazards of servicing the area. Such overlapping distribution systems substantially increase the costs of service per customer because they simply mean that two separate systems are being supplied and maintained to serve an area when one should be sufficient. Obviously, neither system receives maximum benefit from its capital invested in the area. Id. at 306.

Territorial agreements are, therefore, sanctioned and actively encouraged both as a means to avoid the harms incident to competitive practices and as a means of resolving disputes between utilities. <u>Utilities Comm'n</u>, <u>supra;</u> <u>In re: Petition of Florida</u> <u>Power Corp. and Withlacoochee River Elec. Coop. for Approval of</u> Territorial Agreement, 88 F.P.S.C. 6:215 (1988).

The Public Service Commission has consistently followed a policy of favoring and encouraging territorial agreements between competing utilities. <u>In re: Florida Power & Withlacoochee River Electric Order Approving Territorial Agreement</u>, 79 F.P.S.C. 6:54 (1979); <u>In re: Application of Florida Power Corp. and the City of</u> <u>Leesburg for Approval of a Territorial Agreement Relating to</u> <u>Service Areas</u>, 83 F.P.S.C. 7:398 (1983). The Commission's stated rationale for pursuing this policy is as follows:

> It is our opinion that territorial agreements, which will minimize, and perhaps even eliminate, unnecessary and uneconomical duplication of plant and facilities, which invariably accompany expansions into areas already served by a competing utility, are definitely in the public interest and should be encouraged and approved by an agency such as this, which is charged with the duty of regulating public utilities in the public interest. <u>In</u> <u>re: Territorial Agreement Between Peoples Gas Sys., Inc.</u> <u>and City Gas Co. of Fla.</u>, Docket No. 6231-GU, Order No. 3051, at 1 (Fla. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, Nov. 9, 1960).



In <u>Utilities Comm'n City of New Smyrna Beach v. Florida Public</u> <u>Serv. Comm'n</u>, 469 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1985), this Court clearly delineated the standard which the Commission is required to utilize in its review of territorial agreements. In that case, the PSC had denied approval of the territorial agreement on the sole ground that the transfer of a group of customers located in an area known as South Beach (who had protested the provision of the proposed territorial agreement which would have transferred their service from Florida Power and Light to the Utilities Commission of the City of New Smyrna Beach) would not result in any benefit to that group of customers. This Court reversed, holding:

> The PSC order appeal on focuses almost exclusively on lack of substantial the benefits to those customers in the South Beach area, rather than addressing the merits of the territorial agreement as a whole. The PSC should base its approval decision on the effect the territorial agreement will have on affected customers all in the formerly just disputed territory, not whether transferred customers will benefit.

> We do not relegate the PSC to a "rubber stamp" role in approving territorial agreements. The PSC has the responsibility to ensure that the territorial agreement works no detriment to the public interest. We find this situation analogous to that in transfer of utility asset cases, where other courts have had that the public need not be benefitted by the transfer so long as the public suffers no detriment thereby.... For PSC approval, any customer transfer in a proposed territorial agreement must not harm the public. (footnote omitted) (citations omitted) <u>Id</u>. at 732-733.

There are two key components to the test enunciated by the Court in that case. First, the Commission should consider the effect which the agreement will have on all customers in the disputed area. The disputed area in the action below was "all areas outside of Fort Pierce's city limits as those limits existed on July 1, 1974." (R-3). Second, the Commission should not look to determine whether a public benefit results from the proposed Instead, the Commission must determine whether the agreement. agreement would create an overall detriment to all affected customers. In the proceeding below, the Commission completely failed to properly apply the test previously enunciated by this Court.

The order below focuses exclusively on the customers who protested the proposed agreement, that is, the 2,100 FPL customers residing on North Hutchinson Island who would be transferred to the FPUA system. The order, for example, recites the following:

North Hutchinson Island was not named in the petition as an area subject to dispute... FPUA proposed to transfer approximately 900 customers to FPL and FPL proposed to transfer approximately 3,200 customers to FPUA, 2,100 of whom were residents of North Hutchinson Island... Many of the customers who testified were residents of North Hutchinson Island... Other customers testified that North Hutchinson Island was not part of the dispute between FPUA and FPL; that there is no duplication of services on North Hutchinson Island, but that the Island was a pawn in the territory swap between the utilities... The record reflects that North Hutchinson was not named in the original petition... While the customers of North Hutchinson Island expressed a strong preference to remain with FPL... The director of FPUA stated at a City Commission meeting that FPUA does not have the capacity, without expanding, to meet the projected growth of its

existing territory or to meet the growth in <u>North</u> <u>Hutchinson Island</u>... A number of FPL's customers residing on <u>North Hutchinson Island</u> testified that they benefit from these [conservation], programs... We find that FPL's 2,100 customers on <u>North Hutchinson Island</u> would suffer a detrimental loss of conservation benefits if they were transferred to FPUA... We have given some consideration to the fact that <u>North Hutchinson Island</u> was not an area that was subject to duplication of facilities. <u>In re: Joint Motion for approval of</u> <u>territorial agreement and dismissal of territorial</u> <u>dispute</u>, 92 F.P.S.C. 9:679, 679-684 (1992); (R-270-275).

In fact, the Commission barely pays lip service to the mandate that it consider the effect of the agreement on all affected customers. The Commission in its order states, "Since the number of customers who will have their conservation programs reduced or eliminated is greater than the number of customers who reside in areas of duplication, we find that the public interest would not be served by approval of this territorial agreement." Id. at 683 (R-275). This analysis is flawed for at least two reasons. Utilities <u>Comm'n</u> requires a consideration of the effect of the agreement on all customers in the formerly disputed territory. Here, the number of customers in the formerly disputed territory is substantially larger than just those customers who are to be transferred from one utility to the other. Moreover, the simple exercise performed here of counting customers to be transferred in order to determine whether more conservation will be achieved with or without approval of the agreement ignores the fact that a number of the customers being transferred from the FPUA system to FPL are commercial customers with substantially larger electric demand than the

primarily residential customers who would be transferred from the FPL system to the FPUA system.

More importantly, however, this simplistic analysis avoids what should be the proper scope of the Commission's inquiry in reviewing territorial agreements. Even if the Commission had properly determined that the approval of the agreement would result in some net loss of conservation opportunities available to FPL customers, the Commission should have then undertaken to balance that detriment against the benefits which flow from this territory agreement and which were described in detail by the witnesses of both FPL and FPUA. It should not be enough, as the Commission has done here, to simply find some negative impact which might result from the proposed agreement and conclude that the agreement should not be approved.

Finally, and most importantly, the Commission has totally failed to apply the "no detriment" test enunciated in <u>Utilities</u> <u>Comm'n</u>. The Commission again has required the utilities which were parties to a proposed territory agreement to demonstrate a benefit to the public interest, directly contrary to the holding of Utilities Comm'n. The Commission's Final Order provides

> There may, of course, be many situations where it would be in the public interest to approve the transfer of territories not part of an original dispute or actually subject to Based on the record in this duplication. proceeding, as we described earlier, we do not find such a transfer to be in the public <u>interest</u> here. In re: Joint Motion, 92 F.P.S.C. 9:679, 684; (R-275). (emphasis added)

The Commission has completely failed to properly apply the test laid down in <u>Utilities Comm'n</u>, to weigh the overall impact of the agreement on the customers of both utilities in the disputed area, and to determine whether the agreement would result in a net detriment to the public interest.

II. THERE IS NO COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING OF A DETRIMENT TO THE PUBLIC INTEREST.

The Commission's Order below is premised on its resolution of two issues: the ability of FPUA to provide reliable service and the effect of the proposed transfers on energy conservation. Not only does the Commission erroneously apply the standard enunciated in <u>Utilities Comm'n</u> to these two issues, but there is no competent substantial evidence in the record to support a finding that a detriment would result to the customers of both utilities in the formerly disputed areas were the agreement to be approved.

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