IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FORT PIERCE UTILITIES AUTHORITY, Appellant, VS. FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION Appellee,

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF FOR APPELLEE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

ROBERT D. VANDIVER General Counsel Florida Bar No. 344052

RICHARD C. BELLAK Associate General Counsel Florida Bar No. 341851

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-0851 (904) 488-7464

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Commission based its Order Denying Approval of Territorial Agreement at issue in this appeal on three factors:

1) Fort Pierce Utilities Authority (FPUA) failed to meet its burden to demonstrate its ability to provide reliable service in either its present territory or those areas to be transferred to it under the agreement.

- 2) A large number of customers would lose access to conservation programs available from Florida Power and Light (FPL) but not from FPUA.
- 3) The Commission gave some consideration to the fact that North Hutchinson Island, the largest area to be transferred under the agreement, was not part of the disputed area and had no duplicative utility facilities.

The record contains competent substantial evidence that the first two factors were detriments to the public interest generally, rather than harmful to just a few customers. <u>A fortiori</u>, they are not accurately described as mere lack of benefit to a few, the test found insufficient in the <u>Utilities Commission New Smyrna Beach v.</u> <u>Florida Public Commission case</u>. Therefore, appellant's attempt in Section I of the Initial Brief to find error under <u>Utilities Commission</u> is unavailing.

There is no support in the record for appellant's criticisms of the Commission's analysis of the conservation issue. The alternative suggested by appellant is itself precluded by Utilities Commission because it ignores the Commission's responsibility under that case to disapprove territorial agreements which harm the public interest. Moreover, appellant assumes that the testimony of utility witnesses should be found to outweigh the testimony of other witnesses, whereas the record indicates that the Commission found that the non-utility witnesses prevailed on the merits of a number of contested issues. The further assumption that the Court will now reweigh the evidence is contrary to the Court's role on Contrary to appellant, the Commission had appellate review. discretion to give some consideration to the harm caused residents outside the disputed area. The Commission's fact-finding, rather

than the utilities' stipulation determined what the area of dispute was.

Appellant's argument in Section II of the Initial Brief simply restates the testimony appellant believes the Commission should have weighed more heavily, in the hope that this Court will now reweigh the evidence. This is not the Court's proper role and, moreover, does not demonstrate that the Commission's Order was unsupported by competent substantial evidence. Since the record contains such evidence the Commission's Order must be affirmed. Moreover, FPUA's own witness, on cross-examination, provided competent, substantial evidence that the elaborate improvement plans testified about at length to demonstrate reliability were not approved by FPUA, discussed with the other utility involved, demonstrated to be feasible or permittable, or warranted absent growth. The Court's role on appeal is not to reweigh this evidence.

Appellant's request that the Court consider whether a comparison of residential and commercial conservation programs might mitigate the Commission's findings that the loss of conservation programs to 2100 transferred customers was a public detriment again asks the Court to reweigh and re-evaluate the evidence, but does not challenge the relevant fact that the Commission's Order is based on competent, substantial evidence and must, therefore, be affirmed.

The record and Order demonstrate that the Commission's decision denying the territorial agreement considered and balanced

the benefit to all residents of resolving the dispute as against the detriments of the agreement to the public interest. Therefore, appellant has failed to demonstrate any error by the Commission under the <u>Utilities Commission</u> no detriment test.

ARGUMENT

I. The Commission's Order Properly Comports With This Court's No Detriment Test And Is Supported By Competent, Substantial Evidence

The Commission concurs in the background argument contained in the Initial brief, p. 8-10. To that should be added, however, citation to the seminal case of <u>City Gas v. Peoples Gas System</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 182 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 1965). Therein, this Court not only affirmed Commission Order No. 3051, cited by appellant, Initial Brief, p. 9, but also held that a utility territorial agreement is a nullity unless approved by this Commission. 182 So. 2d at 436. The duality of favoring such agreements and at the same time requiring their close supervision by the Commission thus has a long history.

A more recent manifestation of that duality in <u>Utilities</u> <u>Commission New Smyrna Beach v. Florida Public Service Commission</u> ("Utilities Commission") 469 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1985), where the opinion favors territorial agreements but at the same time makes the Commission responsible for ensuring that such agreements work no detriment to the public interest, is in accord with that lengthy evolution. Neither aspect of the duality may be slighted if the Commission is to follow the Court's teachings properly in this area.

On p. 12 of the Initial Brief, appellant asserts that the Commission's numerical comparison [R. 275] is incorrect, but offers no different numbers or support in the record for its criticism.

The numerical comparison was made as a partial demonstration of why harm to the public interest was implicated by the conservation losses. Those conservation losses, in turn, formed but part of the total analysis on which rejection of the territorial agreement was premised. As demonstrated throughout this Brief, that analysis in its totality fully comports with the requirements of <u>Utilities Commission</u>.

On p. 12-13 of the Initial Brief, appellant then theorizes that no numerical comparison could be correct, based on considerations regarding residential and commercial customers and their respective conservation programs. No citation to the record is made to support this speculation which should, accordingly, be ignored.

At p. 13 of the Initial Brief, appellant then argues that, in effect, this Court should reweigh the evidence by giving greater weight to the testimony of the utility witnesses.³

The Commission objects strenuously to the implication that, regardless of the merits, testimony of utility witnesses, qua experts, is entitled to more weight than conflicting testimony of citizen intervenors, <u>qua</u> non-experts. Any review of the record of this case indicates that the citizen-intervenors were judged by the Commission to have prevailed on the merits on issues such as whether North Hutchinson Island actually part of was the territorial dispute or merely claimed as such, or whether FPUA's conservation programs were likely to be of practical benefit to customers in comparison to what they currently have. Moreover, the intervenors' cross-examination on technical issues led to the Commission's own cross-examination establishing that FPUA's system improvement planning was merely idea stage and had not been

As the Court has stated,

It is not this Court's function on review of a decision of the Public Service Commission to re-evaluate the evidence or substitute our judgment on questions of fact.

<u>Citizens of Florida v. Public Service Commission</u>, 435 So. 2d 784 (1983).

In <u>Polk County v. Florida Public Service Commission</u>, 460 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 1984), this Court also held:

> [W]e will not reweigh or re-evaluate the evidence presented to the Commission, but will examine the record only to determine whether the order complained of meets the essential requirements law and whether the agency had available to it competent, substantial evidence to support its findings.

Utilities Commission requires, first, that the Commission "should base its approval decision on the effect the territorial agreement will have on all affected customers in the formerly disputed territory, not just whether transferred customers will benefit." Second, the Commission must "ensure that the territorial agreement works no detriment to the public interest." 469 So. 2d at 732.

approved, demonstrated to be feasible, permittable or warranted absent growth. [R. 272; Tr. 337-44]

Moreover, it distorts the holding in <u>Utilities Commission</u> and is contrary to the spirit and purpose of Chapter 120. The Commission's processes are open to all affected parties and then, not merely as a formality. Indeed, the presiding Commissioners at the service hearing suggested to those present that those who could do so participate in the final hearing and enlist the aid of Public Counsel so that their positions could be advocated before the Commission as effectively as possible. Both suggestions were acted on. [Customer Tr. 98-9; 101-102]

Appellant's expectation that this Court will reweigh the evidence to give added weight to the utility witnesses' testimony is contrary to the Court's appellate role. <u>Citizens</u>, <u>Polk County</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The first factor cited by the Commission for disapproving the agreement was that of reliability. The Commission concluded that,

FPUA has failed to sustain its burden in this proceeding to establish its ability to provide reliable service in either its existing territory, or in the territory proposed to be transferred. [R. 274]

At hearing, Commissioner Clark asked FPL witness Lloyd whether reliability was a factor to look at to determine whether or not a territorial agreement was in the public interest:

> Commissioner Clark: Reliability, the effect on reliability would certainly be a factor?

Witness Lloyd: Yes. [Tr. 124]

Commissioner Clark: Let me ask you where you would put the ability to meet current load and future demand?

Witness Lloyd: The ability to meet current load?

Commissioner Clark: Yes.

Witness Lloyd: Sufficient generating capacity?

Commissioner Clark: Yes.

Witness Lloyd: Yes.

Commissioner Clark: And the ability to meet future demand in a reasonable time period, would that also be one of the elements in reliability?

Witness Lloyd: Yes. [Tr. 125-6]

In concluding that FPUA failed to establish its ability to provide reliable service in either its current service area or those areas to be transferred under the agreement, the Commission addressed avoidance of a public detriment, exactly as required by

<u>Utilities Commission</u>. This can in no way be explained away as a concern for whether only some transferred customers would be negatively impacted, let alone an impermissible concern with lack of benefits to a few transferred customers.

The second factor cited in the Commission's Order was the loss of conservation programs to customers transferred from FPL to FPUA. [R. 274] Appellant is critical of the way the Commission balanced the loss to 2100 customers of their conservation programs as against the benefits of the agreement to all. But, the very fact of the balancing itself demonstrates compliance with <u>Utilities</u> <u>Commission</u>, whether or not appellant agrees with the result.

Thus, Commissioner Clark's examination of FPL witness Lloyd on the subject elicited the following:

> Commissioner Clark: [I]f a territorial agreement had the effect of reducing the conservation programs available to people affected by the territorial agreement, that would be a detriment?

Witness Lloyd: To those people, yes.

Commissioner Clark: What about the ratepayers in general (pause).

Witness Lloyd: It seems to me that the programs which create conservation effects such as deferring the need for power plants would affect all customers.

Commissioner Clark: So, assuming it met the ratepayer's test, or the test the Commission uses to determine whether or not the program should be implemented, to the extent less people have the opportunity to take advantage of that, it would be, on the whole a detriment to the public interest?

Witness Lloyd: Yes, it would.

Commissioner Clark: Both the individual ratepayers who don't have the opportunity to take advantage of it and the general body of ratepayers.

Witness Lloyd: Yes. [Tr. 124-5]

It could not be more clear that the Commission, on the record and in its Order, has fully comported with <u>Utilities Commission</u>. In its findings concerning reliability and conservation, the Commission was not concerned with mere lack of benefits to a few, but with detriments to the public at large. Indeed, the category of ratepayers as a whole necessarily includes all customers in the formerly disputed territory.

<u>Utilities Commission</u> requires that agreements which work such detriments to the public be disapproved. That case does not require that appellant's suggestions for a different balancing be used or permit this Court to reweigh the evidence according to those suggestions. <u>Citizens of Florida</u>, <u>Polk County</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Finally, the Commission indicated that some consideration was given to the fact that North Hutchinson Island was not an area that was subject to duplication of facilities. To be sure, the phrase "some consideration" indicates the non-dispositive nature of this issue. [R. 274]

However, appellant simply ignores this finding and asserts its own "findings" at Initial Brief, p. 11:

> The disputed area in the action below was "all areas outside of Fort Pierce's city limits as those limits existed on July 1, 1974."

Nothing more is cited in support than appellant's stipulation with FPL in the Petition To Resolve Territorial Dispute filed by those parties. [R. 3]

However, that stipulation is not binding on the Commission. The Commission heard a great deal of testimony from FPUA witness Schindehette to the effect that North Hutchinson Island was an "enclave" and thus part of the disputed area. Conflicting testimony was heard from intervenors to the effect that the claim was a pretext, that North Hutchinson Island was not part of the dispute and had no duplicate facilities. Clearly, the Commission agreed with the latter analysis. [Tr. 196-9; 340-2; R. 274-5]

This issue, again, does not speak to lack of benefits to a few, it speaks to harm impacting a large number of people found not even to be in the disputed area. In Utilities Commission, the Court noted that the Commission did not there say that anyone was harmed. Utilities Commission did not require that the Commission always find that the efficiency benefits of territorial agreements outweigh the detriments to the public at large no matter how many residents in territory outside the disputed area are negatively impacted by a negotiated "swap". Not only is the harm to those on North Hutchinson Island not the same as mere lack of benefit, but harm has also been found to be manifested in the form of conservation and reliability issues affecting all residents of the disputed territory. Contrary to appellant's assertion, the Commission had the discretion under Utilities Commission to give "some consideration" to the fact that North Hutchinson Island was

not part of the disputed territory and that the residents would be harmed by the agreement. 469 So. 2d at 733.

Finally, this Court should reject appellant's final point in Section I of the Initial Brief; i.e., that the Commission has "again required the parties to a proposed territory agreement to demonstrate a benefit to the public interest, directly contrary to the holding of <u>Utilities Commission</u>." Initial Brief, P. 13.

In support of this strained assertion, appellant cites the Commission's Order to the effect that the transfer of North Hutchinson island was not found

to be in the public interest here. [R. 275]

In Utilities Commission, this Court stated that

For PSC approval, any customer transfer in a proposed territorial agreement must not harm the public.

There is no discussion in the record of this case concerning lack of benefit to transferred customers under the proposed agreement. There is extensive discussion of harm. Added to the fact that "some consideration" was given to the circumstance that the largest number of transferred customers were located outside the disputed area, the finding that the transfer was not in the public interest related to avoiding harm, not to requiring a benefit. Nothing in <u>Utilities Commission</u> precludes the Commission from avoiding harm; quite the opposite. The Commission is precluded by that case from approving customer transfers which harm the public. 469 So. 2d at 733. On the record of this case, where general public harm was demonstrated regarding reliability concerns

and conservation program losses and some consideration was given to harm to residents found to be outside the disputed area, appellant has not identified any <u>Utilities Commission</u> error in the Commission's Order.

II. The Commission's Findings Of Public Detriment Are Based On Competent Substantial Evidence.

As noted previously, the Commission based its denial of approval of the territorial agreement at issue on three points:

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